A single dose of metformin improves whole body insulin sensitivity and alters cellular redox

state in skeletal muscle of Zucker fa/fa rats

by

Daniel Stephen Lark

June 2010

Director: P. Darrell Neufer

#### DEPARTMENT OF EXERCISE AND SPORT SCIENCE

Energy balance is considered a fundamental requirement of life forms from single cell organisms to higher mammals such as humans. Unfortunately, our species has also discovered the detrimental metabolic responses to excess dietary intake: obesity and the accompanying pathologies collectively known as the metabolic syndrome. Central to the metabolic syndrome is insulin resistance, defined as a relative failure of insulin to stimulate glucose transport in peripheral tissues such as skeletal muscle. It is generally accepted that prolonged insulin resistance often results in the onset of type 2 diabetes, which is one of the most common diseases in the world. Current treatment for type 2 diabetes generally begins with dimethylbiguanide, an insulin sensitizing drug also known as metformin. In the last 10 years, scientific discovery has identified mitochondrial function as a key player in a variety of metabolic diseases, including insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. As such, a variety of investigations have been performed in an attempt to indentify mechanisms by which altered mitochondrial function or physiology may contribute to the pathogenesis of these diseases. Recent evidence from our laboratory indicates that mitochondria derived oxidant (mROS) generation is a key player in the mitochondrial regulation of insulin sensitivity in vivo. Additionally, recent evidence has demonstrated that acute metformin treatment in vitro decreases liver mROS, and that chronic

metformin treatment in vivo decreases skeletal muscle mROS concurrent with improvements in whole body glucose tolerance. Together, this evidence indicates that metformin may alter peripheral insulin sensitivity by decreasing the elevated mROS associated with insulin resistance in the obese population. Therefore, the purpose of the current study was to investigate the effects of a single oral dose of metformin on whole body glucose tolerance and mROS in red and white gastrocnemius of Zucker fa/fa rats, a genetically obese animal model. A single oral dose of metformin resulted in improved whole body glucose tolerance compared to controls independent of alterations in serum insulin. Cellular redox state was significantly more oxidized in animals treated with glucose or metformin alone compared to controls or animals which received both treatments. Succinate and palmitoylcarnitine/malate induced mROS was not altered by glucose and/or metformin in red or white gastrocnemius. Mitochondrial respiration with pyruvate/malate or palmitoylcarnitine/malate was unchanged in response to glucose and/or metformin treatment in red or white gastrocnemius. Akt phosphorylation was significantly elevated in both red and white gastrocnemius in response to glucose or metformin alone, but no additive effect was observed when administered simultaneously, indicating that metformin may act as an insulin mimetic *in vivo*. AMPK phosphorylation was not elevated in response to metformin treatment in either tissue, which suggests that metformin may act through AMPK-independent mechanisms in skeletal muscle in vivo. The results of this study demonstrate that a single oral dose of metformin can improve whole body glucose tolerance independent of changes in mitochondrial respiration, mROS, or altered AMPK signaling in red and white gastrocnemius of Zucker fa/fa rats, but may be associated with altered cellular redox state.

A single dose of metformin improves whole body insulin sensitivity and alters cellular redox state in skeletal muscle of obese Zucker fa/fa rats

A dissertation

presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Exercise and Sport Science

East Carolina University

In partial fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science in Exercise Physiology

by

Daniel Stephen Lark

June 2010

© Copyright 2010

**Daniel Stephen Lark** 

A single dose of metformin improves whole body insulin sensitivity and alters cellular redox

state in skeletal muscle of Zucker fa/fa rats

by

Daniel Stephen Lark

APPROVED BY:

DIRECTOR OF THESIS:

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

P. Darrell Neufer, Ph.D.

Ethan J. Anderson, Ph.D.

Timothy P. Gavin, Ph.D.

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

Peter A. Farrell, Ph.D.

CHAIR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF EXERCISE AND SPORT SCIENCE:

Stacey R. Altman, J.D.

DEAN OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL:

Paul J. Gemperline, Ph.D.

DEAN OF THE COLLEGE OF HEALTH AND HUMAN PERFORMANCE:

Glen Gilbert, Ph.D.

#### Acknowledgements

I would first and foremost like to thank my family for their everlasting commitment to my happiness and success, and their encouragement for all of my life's endeavors. Without their patience and tolerance, I would never have been able to take advantage of the opportunities they provided.

I will be forever indebted to my best friend and wife, Tara, for being supportive of my path in life and for always being focused on our mutual success. Tara has sacrificed a lot for me to study here at ECU, and I will always be humbled by her commitment and devotion to our family.

My first academic mentor, Dr. Ann Snyder, and colleague Mr. Robert Wilson for giving me the opportunity as an undergraduate to learn how to conduct research, which ultimately allowed for my discovery of and matriculation to East Carolina University.

My current and future mentor, Dr. Darrell Neufer, for his firm conviction in performing research with consistency, focus and discipline, but when done to appreciate and enjoy the opportunities provided in life. For his patience and open office door to entertain my seemingly endless theories, I am so grateful that I have asked to stay for a few more years!

Dr. Dan Kane, Dr. Christopher Perry, Mr. Chien-Te (Peter) Lin, and Dr. Ethan Anderson for their friendship and collective contribution to my understanding of physiology. Beyond any nugget of scientific knowledge, these individuals have taught me how to be critical, insightful, and creative enough to conduct research at the very highest level.

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACT	i
TITLE PAGE	iv
COPYRIGHT PAGE	V
SIGNATURE PAGE	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
OBESITY AND DIABETES	2
LIPID INTERMEDIATES	3
FATTY ACID OXIDATION	4
INSULIN SIGNALING	6
ELECTRON LEAK AND SUPEROXIDE GENERATION	8
REGULATION OF CELLULAR REDOX STATE	8
ALTERED INSULIN SIGNALING BY H2O2	9

TREATMENT OF T2DM WITH METFORMIN12
CHAPTER 2: PURPOSE AND HYPOTHESES15
PURPOSE15
HYPOTHESES15
CHAPTER 3: METHODS16
ANIMALS16
TREATMENT PROTOCOL16
ORAL GLUCOSE TOLERANCE TESTS17
PREPARATION OF PERMEABILIZED MUSCLE FIBER BUNDLES17
MITOCHONDRIAL O <sub>2</sub> CONSUMPTION18
METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS19
MITOCHONDRIAL H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> EMISSION20
PREPARATION OF TISSUE FOR MUSCLE PROTEIN21
GLUTATHIONE AND GLUTATHIONE DISULFIDE ANALYSIS22
ANALYSIS OF PROTEIN SIGNALING22
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS23
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS24
A SINGLE ORAL DOSE OF METFORMIN IMPROVES WHOLE BODY GLUCOSE
TOLERANCE24
MITOCHONDRIAL O2 CONSUMPTION IS NOT ALTERED BY ACUTE
METFORMIN TREATMENT24
CELLULAR REDOX STATE IS ALTERED BY A SINGLE DOSE OF
METFORMIN25

MITOCHONDRIAL H2O2 EMISSION IS NOT DECREASED IN SKELETAL
MUSCLE BY ACUTE METFORMIN TREATMENT25
AKT BUT NOT AMPK PHOSPHORYLATION IS ALTERED BY ACUTE
METFORMIN TREATMENT26
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION28
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
IMPROVED GLUCOSE TOLERANCE AFTER A SINGLE DOSE OF
METFORMIN
METFORMIN ACTS INDEPENDENTLY OF ALTERATIONS IN
MITOCHONDRIAL RESPIRATION TO IMPROVE WHOLE BODY GLUCOSE
TOLERANCE
A SINGLE DOSE OF METFORMIN ALTERS CELLULAR REDOX STATE IN A
FIBER TYPE SPECIFIC MANNER
A SINGLE DOSE OF METFORMIN CAN MIMIC INSULIN SIGNALING IN THE
FASTED STATE
LIMITATIONS
FUTURE DIRECTIONS
CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES44
APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE ANIMAL
USE PROTOCOL APPROVAL FORM

# LIST OF FIGURES:

FIGURE 1: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE ORAL DOSE OF METFORMIN	36
ON FASTING GLUCOSE AND INSULIN IN ZUCKER fa/fa RATS	
FIGURE 2: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE DOSE OF METFORMIN ON	38
WHOLE BODY GLUCOSE TOLERANCE IN OBESE ZUCKER fa/fa	
RATS	
FIGURE 3: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE DOSE OF METFORMIN ON	40
CELLULAR REDOX STATE AND MITOCHONDRIAL OXIDANT	
PRODUCTION IN RED AND WHITE GASTROCNEMIUS OF	
ZUCKER fa/fa RATS	
FIGURE 4: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE ORAL DOSE OF METFORMIN	42
ON PROTEIN SIGNALING IN RED AND WHITE GASTROCNEMIUS	
OF ZUCKER fa/fa RATS	

### LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- ADP adenosine diphosphate
- Akt protein kinase B
- AMP adenosine monophosphate
- AMPK adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
- AS-160 Akt substrate of 160 kilodaltons
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- BaO barium orthovanadate
- BCA bicinchoninic acid
- Bleb blebistatin
- Buffer X relaxing/permeabilization buffer
- Buffer Z assay buffer
- CoA coenzyme A
- CPT carnitine palmitoyl transferase
- DAG Diacylglycerol
- EDTA ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EGTA ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
- ELISA enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
- ETS mitochondrial electron transport system (a.k.a. electron transport chain)
- FAO fatty acid oxidation
- FFA free fatty acid

GLUT - glucose transporter protein

GSH - glutathione

GSSG - glutathione disulfide

H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> - Hydrogen Peroxide

HEPES - 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid

HOMA - homeostatic model assessment

IMS - mitochondrial intermembrane space

IR - insulin receptor

IRS - Insulin receptor substrate

JNK - c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase

K<sub>m</sub> - half-maximal rate of enzyme activity

K-MES - potassium- 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid

LCACoA - long chain acyl coenzyme A

MAPK - mitogen-activated protein kinase

mM - millimolar, 1.10<sup>-3</sup> molar concentration

 $\mu M$  - micromolar,  $10^{-6}$  molar concentration

mOsm - milli-osmolarity,  $1.10^3$  moles of solute particles per liter of solution

mROS - mitochondrial oxidant generation

 $\mu U$  - microunits, 1.10-6 SI units of a substance

NaF - sodium fluoride

NaO - sodium orthovanadate

NaPPi - sodium pyrophosphate

O<sub>2</sub> - molecular oxygen (a.k.a. diatomic oxygen)

- O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> superoxide (negatively charged oxygen radical)
- PCr phosphocreatine
- PDK phosphinositide-dependent kinase
- PGC peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  co-activator
- PI-3K phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
- PKC Protein Kinase C
- PPAR peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
- PTP1B protein tyrosine phosphatase isoform 1B
- PVDF polyvinylidene fluoride
- RNA ribonucleic acid
- SDH succinate dehydrogenase
- SOD superoxide dismutase
- T2DM non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (aka. Type 2 Diabetes)
- TCA tricarboxylic
- TNF tumor necrosis factor
- TORC mammalian target of rapamycin Rictor complex
- TSC tuberous sclerosis factor
- UCP uncoupling protein
- UCR uncoupling control ratio
- V<sub>max</sub> maximum velocity of an enzyme

#### CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

#### Introduction

The prevalence of metabolic disease has been increasing to near pandemic rates in the past few decades. A primary component of the metabolic syndrome is insulin resistance, which is associated with a myriad of associated pathologies, which include obesity and type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Dimethylbiguanide, better known as metformin, has been used since the 1930's in the treatment of T2DM. Although metformin has been extremely effective and perhaps the most commonly prescribed anti-diabetic drug in the last 50 years, the potential mechanisms of action for metformin are still largely unknown. Recently obtained data in our laboratory has demonstrated a role for mitochondrial derived hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance. Our laboratory proposes that elevated mitochondrial superoxide  $(O_2^{-})$  production and subsequent  $H_2O_2$  emission  $(mH_2O_2)$  can induce a shift in the cellular redox environment to a more oxidized state, the result of which appears to be a major contributor to insulin resistance. By decreasing  $mH_2O_2$  in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria using pharmacological and transgenic manipulations, Anderson et al. (3) demonstrated that maintaining a reduced cellular redox environment can prevent high fat diet induced insulin resistance in high fat fed rats and mice. Furthermore, our laboratory has recently demonstrated that the anti-diabetic action of metformin treatment is associated with decreased mitochondrial oxidant generation, specifically from Complex I of the electron transport system (ETS) (9). It has been shown previously that metformin is a mild inhibitor of complex I of the ETS and metformin appears to decrease reverse electron flow through Complex I, which is a major contributor of  $mH_2O_2$  (39). The purpose of this project was therefore to determine whether treatment with a single oral dose of metformin improves insulin sensitivity in the Zucker fa/fa rat, a genetic model of obesity and insulin resistance.

#### **Obesity and Diabetes**

Obesity has become an increasingly important health issue in recent years, particularly when considering the increasing prevalence of other metabolic syndrome related pathologies that accompany obesity. Obesity results in an increased risk of developing non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (T2DM). The link between obesity and T2DM has been thought to be largely due to the development and progression of skeletal muscle insulin resistance over the course of years (10). Simply put, insulin resistance is defined as a relative failure of insulin to induce glucose transport in insulin sensitive tissues, principally skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. Skeletal muscle insulin resistance *in vivo* appears to be associated with reduced capacity for intramuscular lipid oxidation (reviewed by (32, 52)); however, the specific molecular mechanisms relevant to *in vivo* insulin resistance are incompletely understood. Previous work has shown that obesity is associated with an increase in plasma and intramuscular lipid accumulation, both of which have been implicated as major contributors to the development and progression of skeletal muscle insulin resistance (41, 49).

Insulin sensitivity is negatively correlated with plasma free fatty acids (FFA) in subjects with T2DM, and the extent to which insulin suppresses plasma FFA is thought to be a strong indicator of the severity of T2DM (41). Further evidence to support the contribution of obesity to insulin resistance was provided by Amati et al. (2) who found that, regardless of age, insulin sensitivity was dependent on physical activity and obesity. Additionally, Williams et al. (78)

found that clinically significant weight loss caused a large, yet incomplete, increase in insulin sensitivity in subjects with T2DM. It is clear that based on the existing literature, obesity is a major contributor to insulin resistance and the pathogenesis of T2DM.

Skeletal muscle of obese individuals displays a number of distinct features, perhaps most importantly a decrease in mitochondrial functional capacity, which appears to result from a decrease in both respiratory capacity (11, 51, 59) and mitochondrial content (59). Obese individuals have also been shown to have lower fatty acid oxidation (FAO) at rest than lean individuals (45), and it has been suggested that this dysregulation in FAO is an essential factor contributing to insulin resistance in the obese state (40). These observations have led to the hypothesis that insulin resistance may stem from a lower capacity to oxidize lipids in skeletal muscle as a result of acquired or inherited mitochondrial dysfunction which, in turn, leads to the accumulation of lipid metabolites that disrupt the insulin signaling pathway (47).

#### *Lipid Intermediates*

The obese phenotype provides an indication of decreased mitochondrial function, but recent evidence suggests that an acute high-fat diet or lipid infusion can induce insulin resistance independent of mitochondrial dysfunction by causing an elevation in lipid intermediates, specifically two products of long chain fatty acyl-CoA (LCACoA): diacylglycerol (DAG) and ceramide (22, 44). LCACoA is the metabolically active form of triglyceride within the cell, and as such they are either sent to the mitochondria for  $\beta$ -oxidation or used as an intermediate for other lipid species such as DAG or ceramide. DAG can be generated in a number of ways, but the most important source is via *de novo* synthesis by esterification of 2 LCACoAs to glycerol-3-phosphate (74). DAG has been implicated as a contributor to lipid-induced insulin resistance indirectly based on correlations found between DAG and PKC $\theta$  in Goto-Kakizaki and Zucker

rats (5). Yu et al. (79) also found that lipid infusion caused a significant increase in DAG which was associated with PKC $\theta$  activity and increased IRS-1 Ser<sup>307</sup> phosphorylation.

Ceramide represents another intracellular lipid metabolite implicated in the development of insulin resistance. Ceramide is a lipid metabolite generated in a similar fashion as DAG, and has been shown to directly activate PKC  $\zeta$ , which suppresses Akt activity, and may contribute to insulin resistance (21). An important difference between the effects of ceramide versus DAG on insulin resistance was found by Chavez et al (14), who found that ceramide contributed to saturated fat induced insulin resistance, but not DAG. This does not nullify the potential role that DAG plays in lipid-induced insulin resistance, but is certainly noteworthy when considering the relative role of each. The link between insulin resistance and obesity very well may be in the generation of DAG and ceramide (35); however, there is growing evidence that also suggests that decreases in  $\beta$ -oxidation may also play a large role in the etiology of insulin resistance independent of intramuscular lipid accumulation (56).

#### Fatty Acid Oxidation

Evidence supporting the theory that limitations in  $\beta$ -oxidation contribute to the development of insulin resistance has been primarily focused on the enzyme carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT-1). CPT-1 is an enzyme that is integral to  $\beta$ -oxidation as it increases fatty acid oxidation by increasing the uptake of long chain fatty acyl-CoA into the mitochondria. CPT-1 plays an important role in the relationship between fatty acid oxidation, lipid intermediate generation and insulin resistance as evidenced by Dobbins et al. (19), who found that prolonged inhibition of CPT-1 or a diet high in saturated fat promoted diacylglycerol accumulation and insulin resistance in rats. Further evidence of CPT-1 being integral to fatty acid oxidation was provided by Bruce et al. (12), who has shown that overexpressing CPT-1 in

skeletal muscle increases fatty acid oxidation, ameliorates lipid-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscle, and does so without changes in mitochondrial capacity or function. These findings suggest that the capacity for fatty acid oxidation is a contributor to insulin resistance in skeletal muscle in both the obese and high fat fed state, although the potential impact of overexpressing CPT1 on mitochondrial inner membrane integrity and total energy turnover was not considered or tested.

Despite the popular theory of "mitochondrial dysfunction" as an underlying cause of insulin resistance (47), there is growing evidence indicating that a high-fat diet induces an initial increase in  $\beta$ -oxidation capacity and that loss of mitochondrial content only occurs after prolonged high fat intake (several months), well after the development of insulin resistance (31). Direct support of an increase in mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation resulting from a high fat diet was provided by Turner et al. (75), in which rats fed a high-fat diet for 5 or 20 weeks both showed an increase in palmitate oxidation compared to rats fed standard chow. This increase in palmitate oxidation was accompanied by increased peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$ co-activator  $1\alpha$  (PGC- $1\alpha$ ) and uncoupling protein (UCP)-3 protein expression. Hancock et al (28) found that rats fed a high-fat diet for 4 weeks displayed significant increases in PGC-1 $\alpha$ protein although PGC-1 $\alpha$  mRNA expression decreased. The authors determined that the elevated FFA resulting from the high-fat diet caused a significant increase in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\delta$  (PPAR $\delta$ ) mRNA expression, which increased PGC-1 $\alpha$  protein expression. Insulin resistance still occurred in the muscle as indicated by reduced insulinstimulated 2-DG transport assessed in vitro, clearly in the absence of any change in the mitochondria (28). In addition, Garcia-Roves et al. (23) observed an increase in PPARδ binding to the muscle carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (mCPT-1) promoter in epitrochlearis muscle after 4 weeks of elevated FFA. This was accompanied by a ~60% increase in palmitate oxidation, an increase in mCPT-1 mRNA, UCP-3 mRNA and mitochondrial TCA cycle enzyme activity. It is interesting to note that mitochondrial biogenesis occurred without any observed change in PGC1- $\alpha$  gene expression. Therefore, during a high-fat diet, it appears that fatty acid oxidation increases despite the development of insulin resistance.

#### Insulin Signaling

The insulin signaling pathway has long been implicated as the target of insulin resistance by obesity, high fat diet and lipid accumulation, and as such there are a number of targets in the insulin signaling pathway that are thought to be associated with insulin resistance. Some of the components of the insulin signaling pathway implicated in insulin resistance include: Insulin Receptor (IR), Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 (IRS-1), Phosphatidylinositol-3 Kinase (PI-3K), Protein Kinase B (Akt), and Akt substrate of 160 kDa (AS-160). In skeletal muscle, the insulin signaling cascade begins with insulin binding to the receptor on the cell membrane, which activates intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity of the IR which leads to auto-phosphorylation of the IR β-subunit and subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1. Tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 recruits the p85 subunit of PI3K to the cell membrane (73). From there, PI3K phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol 3,4-diphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) to PIP<sub>3</sub>, and the increase in PIP<sub>3</sub> recruits proteins containing pleckstrin homology (PH) domains, such as Akt and phosphinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK-1) to the cell membrane. When Akt reaches the cell membrane, it is phosphorylated by PDK-1 on Thr<sup>308</sup> (70, 71) and the mTOR-Rictor complex 2 (TORC2) on Ser<sup>473</sup> (33, 64). Once Akt is activated, AS160 is phosphorylated, which relieves the "brake" on GLUT4 translocation as evidenced by Sano et al. (63) who showed that when a mutant AS160 is deactivated, previous inhibition of GLUT4 translocation is alleviated. Evidence that FFA

accumulation is associated insulin resistance was provided by Griffin et al. (27), who found that performing a 5-hour lipid infusion increased plasma FFA in Sprague Dawley rats, and the increased plasma FFA was associated with significant decreases in insulin-stimulated PI3K activity and IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation, as well as decreased glucose uptake. Further supporting the obesity induced theory of insulin resistance, Standaert et al. (68) found that obese diabetic rhesus monkeys had significantly less IRS-1/PI3K activity as well as decreased insulin stimulated glucose uptake. Based on the current literature, considerable evidence exists to suggest that FFA accumulation may be at least one mechanism by which high lipid intake induces insulin resistance.

There is certainly evidence indicating that disruptions in the insulin signaling pathway caused by obesity and/or lipid accumulation contribute to insulin resistance; however, the extent that these disruptions contribute physiologically is still very controversial (22, 44). The reason for the controversy is because although there may be disruptions in the insulin signaling pathway, the response may be non-linear, and may not even physiologically inhibit glucose uptake (44). This thinking is based on a paper from Whitehead et al. (76) who showed that maximal insulin-stimulated glucose transport in adipocytes is achieved by activating only 10% and 20% of IRS-1 and Akt, respectively. Although this may not hold true for skeletal muscle, especially when considering the relative quantity of glucose taken up by skeletal muscle compared to adipose tissue, the question still remains whether inhibition of the insulin signaling pathway by high fat diet or lipid intermediates inhibits glucose uptake under physiological conditions.

#### Electron leak and Superoxide generation

The electron transport system is located on the mitochondrial inner membrane, which consists of four complexes, and is responsible for producing ATP with oxygen serving as the final electron acceptor to form H<sub>2</sub>O. Although not pathological, during basal mitochondrial respiration a relatively small fraction of electrons (0.2-2%) leak from the ETS (13, 69). Electron leak occurs at either complex I or III of the electron transport system as  $O_2^{-}$  and are converted to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> by SOD in either the matrix or intermembrane space. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> has an integral function in cell signaling through reversible cysteine oxidation (58). Although H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is emitted at low levels during basal mitochondrial respiration, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emission can increase dramatically under a variety of both physiological and pathophysiological conditions (4, 59). When H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emission is elevated, the redox state of the cell is altered due to the reversible oxidation of cysteine residues with specific proteins resulting in an overall shift in cellular redox environment to a more oxidized state (38).

#### Regulation of Cellular Redox state

Since the maintenance of the redox environment is clearly essential to the proper functioning of a cell, a number of therapies have been developed to attempt to prevent the production/accumulation of oxidants. The drawback to antioxidant therapies in general is that most antioxidants are water soluble and, therefore, do not reach a sufficient concentration in the mitochondrial matrix to effectively scavenge  $O_2^{-1}$ .

Endogenously, cellular redox state is maintained primarily by the tri-peptide glutathione (GSH). The oxidation of two glutathione molecules by glutathione peroxidase yields glutathione disulfide (GSSG); GSSG can be converted back into two glutathione molecules by the enzyme glutathione reductase. GSH is found mainly (>98%) in the reduced form in the cytosol of

mammalian cells, with very little (<1%) found as GSSG (65). The ratio of GSSG to GSH is commonly used as an index of the redox state of the cell, with a greater ratio indicative of oxidative stress. Glutathione performs a variety of functions within a cell, from being the most abundant oxidant scavenger in the cytosol (50) to being an essential "on/off" switch for a number of cell signaling pathways through S-glutathionylation (17).

Although the electron transport system is located on the inner membrane of the mitochondria,  $O_2^{-}$  is not released exclusively to the mitochondrial matrix. Whereas  $O_2^{-}$  generated by complex I is released exclusively into the mitochondrial matrix, it has been recently shown that ~50% of  $O_2^{-}$  produced by complex III is released into the matrix and ~50% released into the intermembrane space (53, 67). Recent work by Hu et al. (34) has shown the intermembrane space (IMS) is far more oxidizing than the mitochondrial matrix, and that the redox environment in the mitochondrial matrix and IMS are independently regulated by different isoforms of GSSG reductase. This information combined with SOD isoforms being location specific (16) and  $O_2^{-}$  being highly membrane impermeable (43) ultimately demonstrates that separate compartmentalized redox environments are present within the mitochondria. Therefore, it is clear that antioxidant therapies need to be specific in their localization in order to reach the mitochondrial matrix to scavenge electrons.

#### Altered Insulin signaling by $H_2O_2$

Oxidation of proteins can be particularly detrimental when the redox potential of the cell is already compromised, which occurs when there is an abundance of  $H_2O_2$  present in the cell.  $H_2O_2$  emission has been shown to increase in skeletal and cardiac muscle as a result of high fat feeding, and results in a disruption of the redox status of the cell (3). A shift towards a more oxidative state in a cell causes disruption in numerous signaling pathways that rely on oxidation

as a key regulating mechanism. The two main forms of reversible protein modification are glutathionylation and cysteine oxidation.

Glutathionylation is a reaction that occurs when a cysteine residue on the tri-peptide glutathione (GSH) and a cysteine residue on a protein thiol are oxidized, and subsequently bind to form a mixed disulfide. There are a number of different ways in which GSH can interact with a protein thiol, such as thiol/disulfide exchange and thiol oxidation, depending on the oxidation state of the thiol and GSH. Protein S-glutathionylation occurs during basal conditions, suggesting a regulatory signaling function during physiological conditions (25). The primary targets of glutathionylation are sulfhydryls and disulfides on proteins in oxidation sensitive regions, which are regions that are very basic (low pKa) or overly exposed due to their 3-D structure. Beyond serving a regulatory role, it has been suggested that S-glutathionylation serves as a way of storing glutathione when it is sequestered as a result of binding to the protein thiol, as well as protecting protein thiols from non-reversible oxidation (48). Glutaredoxin plays a role in both S-glutathionylation and in protein deglutathionylation.

Cysteine is an amino acid that is particularly sensitive to oxidation, and is also a key component of numerous enzymatic reactions (58). Active-site cysteine acts as a switch for a large number of cell signaling proteins, and is also quite abundant in the ion channels and receptors in the plasma membrane of cells. Therefore, when the redox environment of the cell shifts to a more oxidized state, critical cysteine residues within specific key proteins can become glutathionylated or oxidized which can result in altered regulation of cell function.

A growing line of inquiry linking insulin resistance to a disrupted redox state is focused on the downstream targets of TNF $\alpha$ , such as p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38-MAPK) and the c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase (JNK). JNK is activated by a number of stimuli, including

10

inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ). The activation of JNK has been shown to positively correlate with serine<sup>307</sup> phosphorylation of IRS-1 (30), which inhibits tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and in turn prevents downstream phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), ultimately resulting in insulin resistance. Further support implicating JNK as a negative regulator of IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation was provided by Lee et al. (46) which showed that a decrease in Ser<sup>307</sup> phosphorylation and an increase in tyrosine phosphorylation in cells expressing a mutant IRS-1 lacking a JNK binding domain. The decreased Ser<sup>307</sup> phosphorylation was directly related to increased insulin-stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation, Akt phosphorylation and increased glucose uptake. The prospect of JNK and upstream factors such as TNF $\alpha$  contributing to insulin resistance is a popular line of research currently.

PTP1B is an interesting target because it has been shown to have an essential function in insulin signaling by dephosphorylating tyrosine residues on both the IR and IRS-1, which negatively regulates insulin signaling. PTP1B is only active in the reduced (thiolate) form, but is highly susceptible to oxidation. The reversible oxidized form (suphenic acid) can be converted back to the active form by amination to sulphenyl-amide and subsequent reduction (18). During highly oxidizing conditions, PTP1B can be oxidized to sulphinic or sulphonic acid, which is irreversible. Barrett et al. (8) found that s-glutathionylation prevented further oxidation from sulphenic acid, and that glutathionylation was an important regulator of PTP1B function. Although PTP1B may be an appealing target for studying insulin resistance, Zabolotny et al. (80) found that mice overexpressing PTP1B were shown to be insulin resistant, thus indicating that the dephosphorylation of the  $\beta$ -subunit of IR caused by the active form is a much larger contributor to insulin resistance than the concurrent dephosphorylation of IRS-1. A possible

explanation for this may be that PTP1B was only shown to be a substrate for IRS-1 *in vitro* (26), so this response may not occur *in vivo*. Therefore, available evidence to date indicates that a more oxidized redox environment may contribute to insulin resistance through MAPKs but probably not through regulation of PTP1B, and may be partially regulated by glutathionylation via regulatory pathways incorporating cysteine residues, but no specific pathways have been elucidated.

#### Treatment of T2DM with Metformin

Biguanides have been used as medicine since medieval Europe in the form of French lilac. Two specific biguanides, phenformin and metformin, were finally isolated and synthesized in the 1930's. Phenformin is no longer in use due to the propensity for phenformin to induce lactic acidosis, but metformin has been in use in most of Europe since the 1950's and in the United States since the 1980's (6). Dimethylbiguanide, better known as metformin, is one of the most widely prescribed pharmacological agents for T2DM. Clinically, it is well established that metformin improves fasting glucose levels by decreasing hepatic glucose output and improving glucose tolerance by increasing insulin stimulated peripheral glucose uptake (reviewed in (7)). Although the clinical utility of metformin treatment is well established, the physiological mechanisms by which it acts are incompletely understood. There are two predominantly interwoven theories regarding the physiological mechanism of metformin action: altered electron flow through Complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport system (ETS) and activation of adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK). Understanding the link between altered Complex I function and AMPK activation in the context of diabetes will be useful to elucidate the in vivo nature of metformin.

Cellular metabolism is very tightly controlled, with small alterations in energy state sometimes resulting in dramatic physiological changes. An excellent example of the tight regulation of metabolism is the equilibrium state of the family of adenosine phosphates (ATP/ADP/AMP). Since mitochondria are the primary source of ATP production in mammalian cells, mild alterations in the ETS of the mitochondria can result in global changes in cellular energy state (24). Furthermore, since [ADP] and [AMP] are sustained at extremely low concentrations, very small absolute changes in either molecule can result in large relative changes. Metformin has been shown to alter Complex I of the ETS in two ways: decreasing forward electron flow through Complex I which can result in decreased mitochondrial respiration and decreased [ATP], or decreasing reverse electron flow through Complex I which can result in decreased mitochondrial oxidant emission (9). It has been shown recently in our lab that incubating rat red gastrocnemius muscle in different concentrations of metformin has concentration dependent effects on electron flow through Complex I (39). Particularly, a ~100fold greater concentration of metformin was required to inhibit forward electron flow (evidenced by decreased mitochondrial O<sub>2</sub> consumption) than was needed to inhibit reverse electron flow (evidenced by lower succinate supported  $H_2O_2$  emission). This data suggests that since reverse electron flow was altered at a much lower concentration of metformin, perhaps inhibition of reverse electron flow is a more relevant in vivo mechanism of action for metformin than the inhibition of forward electron flow.

AMPK, a master cellular energy sensor (reviewed by (29)), can modulate metabolic pathways in response to altered energy states (i.e. increased [AMP]). AMPK is present in a wide variety of cell types, including skeletal muscle and liver, and acts as a master metabolic switch in response to alterations in cellular energy state. For example, AMPK activity is increased in

response to energy deficit (i.e. fasting conditions), which inhibits mTOR signaling by activating tuberous sclerosis factor (TSC) 1/2 and results in decreased protein synthesis (36). The more general result of an increase in AMPK activity is a decrease in the activity of energy consuming pathways (i.e. protein synthesis) and an increase in the activity of energy producing pathways (i.e.  $\beta$ -oxidation and glycolysis).

An increase in AMPK phosphorylation in response to 4 and 10 weeks of oral metformin treatment has been observed in type 2 diabetic human vastus lateralis, and was associated with improved skeletal muscle glucose transport in those subjects (54). Our lab has recently demonstrated that 4 weeks of oral metformin treatment induces improvements in whole body glucose tolerance in obese insulin resistant Zucker fa/fa rats (39). Interestingly, Suwa et al, (72) have shown that AMPK phosphorylation can be significantly elevated in white gastrocnemius within 5 h after a single oral dose of metformin in healthy Wistar rats. The apparent temporal sensitivity of AMPK activity to metformin treatment coupled with the powerful anti-diabetic action of metformin suggests that a perhaps a single dose of metformin may elicit similar anti-diabetic effects as chronic treatment. However, there are no published studies to date that have investigated the effect of a single dose of metformin on whole body glucose tolerance in either animal models or humans. Furthermore, it appears that the metabolic action of metformin can occur independently of AMPK in the myocardium, indicating that perhaps AMPK is not an essential contributor to the anti-diabetic action of metformin (61).

#### CHAPTER 2: PURPOSE AND HYPOTHESES

#### Purpose

The purpose of this study was to determine if a single oral dose of the anti-diabetic drug metformin can improve whole body glucose tolerance in the male fatty, insulin resistant Zucker rat model concomitant with altered mitochondrial oxidant production.

#### *Hypotheses:*

In Zucker fa/fa rats, a single oral dose of metformin will:

- Increase whole body glucose clearance in response to an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT).
- Decrease mitochondrial H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emission during succinate and palmitoyl-carnitine supported respiration.
- Not alter mitochondrial oxygen consumption during respiration supported by pyruvate/malate or palmitoyl-carnitine/malate.
- 4) Improve insulin signaling.
- 5) Not alter AMPK signaling.

#### **CHAPTER 3: METHODS**

#### Animals

The male fatty (fa/fa) Zucker rats were obtained based on the severe obesity and insulin resistance that occurs in these animals between 8-12 weeks of age. The fatty Zucker rat was chosen because recent work in this laboratory by Kane et al. (39) has demonstrated that 4 weeks of metformin treatment partially restores insulin sensitivity in Zucker fa/fa rats. Therefore, the same animal model of insulin resistance was used to determine the effects of a single dose of metformin on whole body glucose clearance, skeletal muscle mitochondrial energetics, and skeletal muscle insulin signaling.

#### Treatment Protocol

This study was conducted in accordance with guidelines set forth by the East Carolina University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Twenty-four Zucker fa/fa rats were obtained and housed in a light (12 light: 12 dark) and temperature controlled (37°C) environment and allowed to eat and drink freely.

Animals were fasted overnight (8-10 hours) and then given either an oral dose (320 mg/kg body weight) of metformin (0.5 M dissolved in ddH<sub>2</sub>O) or a water gavage (2 ml/kg body weight) between 5-9 am. The volume of water gavage given was equivalent to the volume of solution given to metformin treated animals. Three hours after the "treatment" gavage, animals were given an OGTT (2 g/kg body wt.). After the OGTT, animals were placed back into their respective cages and were allowed to eat and drink freely for >7 days. Pharmacokinetic evidence indicates that metformin is completely removed from the circulation within 12 hours (62).

After the week of washout, animals were again fasted overnight and then given either an oral dose of metformin or a water gavage in the same concentrations as the previous protocol.

However, 2 hours after the "treatment" gavage, each group (water or metformin) was divided into two subgroups (glucose or water) resulting in four groups: water/water, water/glucose, metformin/water, and metformin/glucose. As such, two groups (water/glucose and metformin/glucose) received an oral glucose gavage (2 g/kg body weight) and the other two groups (water/water and metformin/water) received an equivalent volume of water. One hour after the second gavage, the animals were given an intraperitoneal injection of ketamine/xylazine (50 mg/kg bodyweight) to induce deep anesthesia. After anesthesia was confirmed using the toe pinch technique, the red and white gastrocnemius muscles were rapidly removed from the animal and either used for functional mitochondria measurements or flash frozen in liquid nitrogen for future analyses.

#### Oral Glucose Tolerance Tests

OGTTs were performed 3 hours after a single oral dose of metformin (320 mg/kg body weight) following an overnight fast using an oral glucose gavage (2 g/kg bodyweight). Approximately 1 ml of blood was collected from the lateral tail vein at baseline (minute 0), 15, 30, 60, and 120 minutes after the glucose gavage was administered. Blood glucose was measured using a whole blood glucometer (OneTouch Ultra). For insulin, whole blood was collected in 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes on ice, centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes, and the serum drawn off and frozen at -20°C. Serum insulin was measured using a rat/mouse ELISA kit (Linco Research). Homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) was calculated with the following formula: HOMA = fasting insulin ( $\mu$ U/ml) x fasting glucose (mM)/22.5.

#### Preparation of permeabilized muscle fiber bundles

This technique is partially adapted and has been described previously (3). First, the red gastrocnemius muscle was dissected from the animal, and the muscle was separated into bundles

using a dissection microscope (Leica, Bannockburn, IL). Fiber bundles were immersed in buffer X containing (mM): 60 K-MES, 35 KCl, 7.23 K<sub>2</sub>EGTA, 2.77 CaK<sub>2</sub>EGTA, 20 Imidazole, 0.5 DTT, 20 Taurine, 5.7 ATP, 15 PCr, 6.56 MgCl<sub>2</sub>, - 6 H<sub>2</sub>O (pH 7.1, 290 mOsm), and separated using micro dissection instruments to maximize surface area. The separated fiber bundles were then incubated in saponin (50  $\mu$ g/ml) and buffer X for 30 minutes at 4°C to selectively permeabilize the plasma membrane. After permeabilization, the de-energized fiber bundles (PmFBs) were washed for at least 15 minutes in Buffer Z containing: (mM) 110 K-MES, 35 KCl, 1 EGTA, 5 K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 3MgCl<sub>2</sub> – 6 H<sub>2</sub>O, 5 mg/ml BSA, 0.05 pyruvate and 0.02 malate (pH 7.4, 290 mOsm) on a rotator at 4° C and then stored at 4°C until analysis (<60 minutes).

#### *Mitochondrial* O<sub>2</sub> *consumption*

Oxygen consumption measurements were performed at 37°C in Buffer Z using the Oroboros O2K Oxygraph (Innsbruck, Austria). Each chamber contained 2 ml of Buffer Z with 20 mM creatine monohydrate (to saturate endogenous creatine kinase), 5 mg/mL BSA, and 50  $\mu$ M blebistatin (Bleb). Bleb has been shown to be a myosin II inhibitor (1), and has been previously demonstrated to improve stability during O<sub>2</sub> consumption experiments in permeabilized muscle fibers (Perry et al., unpublished observations). After the fiber bundles were added, the chambers were sealed and upon signal stabilization, two different protocols were performed for each fiber type (red and white gastrocnemius) to analyze O<sub>2</sub> kinetics.

*Protocol 1*: An ADP titration with pyruvate/malate as substrates was performed to determine whether metformin inhibits the sensitivity of the system to ADP ( $K_m$ ) or the maximal ( $V_{max}$ ) complex I supported respiration. The protocol was performed as follows: i) 5 mM Malate and 2 mM Pyruvate; ii) 25  $\mu$ M ADP; iii) 100  $\mu$ M ADP; iv) 250  $\mu$ M ADP; v) 1 mM ADP; vi) 4 mM ADP. During this protocol, reducing equivalents are derived almost exclusively from NADH because the lack of succinate in the protocol prevents substantial flux through succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) which will thus limit the production of FADH<sub>2</sub>. As a result, only forward electron flow through Complex I should occur. *Protocol 2*: Maximal state 3 (ADP stimulated) respiration with Palmitoyl-carnitine/malate (PCM) was performed to determine if a single oral dose of metformin alters fatty acid supported respiration. The protocol was performed as follows: i) 25  $\mu$ M palmitoyl carnitine + 1 mM malate (PCM<sub>4</sub>); ii) 25  $\mu$ M ADP; iii) 100  $\mu$ M ADP; iv) 250  $\mu$ M ADP; v) 1 mM ADP; vi) 4 mM ADP. The first addition (PCM) initiates a state 4 basal, non-phosphorylating respiration (PCM<sub>4</sub>). Reducing equivalents are derived from β-oxidation and the TCA cycle. ADP is then added to initiate state 3, phosphorylating respiration (PCM<sub>3</sub>).

#### Methodological Considerations

Under experimental conditions, there are a number of limiting factors to respiration, such as  $[O_2]$ , substrate flux into the mitochondria, phosphorylation, and bulk electron flow. In the current project,  $[O_2]$  in the chamber was controlled for by maintaining  $[O_2]$  within a given range (150-220  $\mu$ M) at all times during the experiment. This is done to avoid a situation where  $O_2$  delivery is limited or in excess which could interfere with respiration independent of the ETS. Substrate flux into the mitochondria was controlled for by providing a maximal saturating concentration of each substrate or by performing a substrate titration during the experiment, effectively determining maximal substrate oxidation in a given protocol. Limitations in ADP transport or phosphorylation occur at either the adenine nucleotide translocase or at the ATP synthase, respectively. Although  $[O_2]$  and substrate flux are controlled within the experimental design, the limitations regarding ADP transport and phosphorylation are analyzed as a whole primarily by calculating UCR. A limitation in any of these systems will inhibit respiration relative to maximal uncoupled respiration. Ultimately, assuming maximal substrate oxidation

and ideal  $[O_2]$ , bulk electron flow is the only limiting factor during maximal uncoupled respiration, and is recognized as the maximal rate of respiration in the given experimental protocols. The protocols address each of the limitations in a step-wise fashion, providing a comprehensive analysis of mitochondrial respiratory function.

At the conclusion of each experiment, PmFBs were freeze-dried in a lyophilizer (Labconco) overnight. After freeze-drying, the fibers were weighed and O<sub>2</sub> consumption was expressed as pmol·sec<sup>-1</sup>·mg dry weight<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Mitochondrial H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> Emission

Mitochondrial  $H_2O_2$  emission (mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) was measured by continuously monitoring oxidation of Amplex Red using a Spex Fluoromax 3 (Jobin Yvon, Ltd.) spectrofluorometer. Chemically, this experiment is based on the oxidation of Amplex Red (Invitrogen) by  $H_2O_2$  in the presence of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) to form resorufin, which fluoresces at a 1:1 stoichiometry with [H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>], providing a direct measure of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emission. The mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> assay was set up by adding 300 µl of Amplex Red reagent with 1 µl HRP in a quartz cuvette. Two protocols were employed for each fiber type (red and white gastrocnemius).

*Protocol 1*: The first protocol performed consisted of the initial addition of 3 mM succinate followed by an ADP titration. In order, the following substrates were added during the experiment: i) 3 mM Succinate; ii) 25  $\mu$ M ADP; iii) 100  $\mu$ M ADP; iv) 250  $\mu$ M ADP; v) 500  $\mu$ M ADP; vi) 1 mM ADP. This protocol was used to induce a high rate of reverse electron flow through Complex I, and then to test the sensitivity of the mitochondria to [ADP] in a way similar to what was done while measuring O<sub>2</sub> kinetics. Although ADP was added for protocols measuring either O<sub>2</sub> consumption or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emission, it is important to note that the addition of [ADP] will decrease membrane potential (ΔΨ), which will decrease mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concomitant with

greater  $O_2$  consumption. Taken together, mitochondrial sensitivity to [ADP] under both of these conditions was performed to determine if metformin administration altered the dynamic relationship between adenine transport/phosphorylation and mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

*Protocol 2*: The second protocol was done in two steps, first palmitoyl-carnitine and malate was added to measure fatty acid induced mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. The purpose of this part of the protocol was to measure fatty acid supported mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> using an "activated" form of palmitate. In order for fatty acids to enter the mitochondria for β-oxidation they must be converted to palmitoyl-carnitine and then transported into the mitochondrial matrix via CPT 1/2. Immediately afterwards, the fiber was removed, washed in fresh Buffer X and then added into a fresh cuvette. At this point, 3 mM succinate was added, followed by rotenone. The purpose of the second step of the protocol was to see if metformin treatment inhibited complex I reverse electron flow to a similar degree as rotenone.

At the conclusion of each  $mH_2O_2$  experiment, the fiber bundles were washed in ddH<sub>2</sub>O, freeze-dried and weighed. H2O2 emission data is expressed for each substrate condition as  $\mu$ mol H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/min/mg dry wt.

#### Preparation of tissue for muscle protein

A portion of red gastrocnemius collected at dissection was frozen in liquid  $N_2$  and powdered by pulverization. To prepare samples for GSH analysis, 100mg of tissue was added to a test tube containing 1 ml of homogenization buffer consisting of (mM): 10 Tris, 1 EDTA, 1 EGTA, 2 BaO, 2 Sodium Pyrophosphate (NaPPi), 5 sodium fluoride (NaF), and protease inhibitor cocktail at pH 7.2. Tissue was then homogenized using a Polytron SC-250 set at 25,000 rpm. After homogenization, 1% Triton X-100 was added to the suspension, vortexed and put on ice for 5 minutes. The tubes were then pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes, supernatant decanted and the pellet stored at -80°C until muscle protein analysis is performed.

#### Glutathione and Glutathione Disulfide analysis

Total GSH (tGSH) and GSSG were measured using reagents and a calibration kit provided (Oxis Research) according to manufacturer's instructions, with small modifications. For measurement of GSSG, samples were homogenized in the presence of 0.3 mM Methyl-2-Vinylpyridinium triflate to scavenge all reduced thiols present in the sample. From tGSH and GSSG, GSH/GSSG was calculated using the following formula:

GSH/GSSG ratio = (tGSH - (2\*GSSG))/GSSG

#### Analysis of protein signaling

To extract proteins from tissues for the analysis of insulin signaling factors, frozen muscle was pulverized in liquid nitrogen with mortar and pestle, then placed in 10 volumes (~100 mg/1 ml buffer) of homogenization buffer (mM): 50 HEPES, 50 NaPPi, 100 NaF, 10 EDTA, 10 NaO, 1% Triton X-100, and protease and phosphatase (1 and 2) inhibitor cocktails (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) on ice. After centrifugation for 10 min at 10,000 rpm, supernatants were taken and protein content was determined using a BCA protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, IL). An equal amount of protein was loaded into 12.5% Tris HCl gels, and gel electrophoresis was performed at 150 mV for ~1 hour. The gels were then moved to a transfer apparatus in ice cold running buffer and proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane for 2 hours at 100mV). Primary antibodies were then applied overnight in the following dilutions: total Akt (1:2000), Akt Ser<sup>473</sup> (1:2000), total AMPK (1:1000), and AMPK Thr<sup>172</sup> (1:1000). Total Akt, total AMPK, and AMPK Thr<sup>172</sup> antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling (Beverly, MA). Akt Ser<sup>473</sup>

was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotech (Santa Cruz, CA). Following incubation with primary antibodies, blots were incubated with goat anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody purchased from Cell Signaling. Horseradish peroxidase activity was assessed with Western Lightning ECL solution (Lumiglo and Peroxide, Cell Signaling, San Francisco, CA), and exposed to blue sensitive x-ray film. Exposure times were optimized for each particular experiment. The resulting image was scanned and band densitometry was assessed with Gel Pro Analyzer software (Media Cybernetics, Silver Spring, MD). Protein phosphorylation was calculated as the ratio of phosphorylated/total protein (i.e. pAkt/tAkt), normalized to the control fasted (water/water) animals and reported as % change from control.

#### Statistical analysis

Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data was analyzed using two-tailed unpaired t-test for OGTT data and either one-way or two-way ANOVAs for all other measurements. The significance level was set at p <0.05.

#### **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

#### A single oral dose of Metformin improves Whole Body Glucose Tolerance.

Glucose tolerance tests were performed on Zucker fa/fa rats 3 hours after an oral dose of metformin. Fasting HOMA was significantly lower in metformin treated rats compared to control (Figure 1A - Control  $3.96 \pm 0.44$  vs. Metformin  $2.75 \pm 0.28$ ; p = 0.03). This difference appears to be attributed to significantly lower fasting glucose in metformin treated animals (Figure 1B - Control -  $121 \pm 4$  vs. Metformin -  $97 \pm 4$ ; two-tailed t-test p  $\leq 0.0005$ ) whereas no difference in fasting insulin (Figure 1C - Control -  $13.03 \pm 1.28$  vs. Metformin -  $11.36 \pm 0.97$ ; two-tailed t-test p = 0.31) was observed. Glucose AUC was significantly lower (35%) in metformin treated rats compared to the control group (Figure 2A - Control 33310 vs. Metformin 21590; p  $\leq 0.0001$ ) whereas insulin AUC was not significantly different between groups (Figure 2B). Taken together, these data provide evidence that a single dose of metformin improves whole body glucose tolerance, similar to the improvements in glucose tolerance observed with metformin treatment performed for several weeks (39).

#### Mitochondrial O<sub>2</sub> Consumption is not impaired by acute Metformin treatment

Mitochondrial oxygen consumption was measured in both red and white gastrocnemius muscle of Zucker fa/fa rats three hours after an oral dose of metformin or water and then one hour after a glucose gavage or a second water gavage. Mitochondrial oxygen consumption was measured during either pyruvate/malate (PM) or palmitoylcarnitine/malate (PCM) supported respiration utilizing an ADP titration to derive  $K_m$  and  $V_{max}$ . As hypothesized, there were no statistically significant differences in  $K_m$  or  $V_{max}$  between any groups during PM or PCM supported respiration in red or white gastrocnemius. Interestingly, although the theoretical  $V_{max}$  for PM supported respiration was not different between water/water and metformin/water in red

gastrocnemius, the maximal ADP (4 mM) stimulated rate of respiration was significantly different between water/water and metformin/water (water/water – 708.3  $\pm$  95.70 vs. metformin/water – 1054.1  $\pm$  271.51; p < 0.05).

#### Cellular Redox State is altered by a single oral dose of Metformin

The ratio of reduced glutathione (GSH) to oxidized glutathione (GSSG) was measured and used as an index of cellular redox state. White gastrocnemius GSH/GSSG was significantly decreased an hour after a glucose gavage in control animals, but in contrast, GSH/GSSG was significantly elevated in metformin treated animals in response to glucose (Figure 3A). However, contrary to expectations, water/water animals displayed a significantly greater GSH/GSSG ratio than metformin/water animals, suggesting that perhaps metformin has a deleterious effect on cellular redox state during fasting. The altered GSH/GSSG ratios observed in the white gastrocnemius were not associated with significant differences in GSSG, which indicates that this response may not be exclusively due to alterations in mitochondrial oxidant production *per se*. Furthermore, although significant differences were observed in the GSH/GSSG ratio in white gastrocnemius, no differences were observed in total GSH, GSSG, or GSH/GSSG in red gastrocnemius.

# Mitochondrial $H_2O_2$ emission is not decreased in skeletal muscle by a single oral dose of Metformin

Mitochondrial  $H_2O_2$  emission (mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) was measured in both red and white gastrocnemius of Zucker fa/fa rats induced by either succinate or palmitoylcarnitine. No significant differences between groups were observed in red gastrocnemius during succinate or PCM induced mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Figure 3B). Additionally, no significant differences between groups were observed in white gastrocnemius during succinate or PCM induced mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. After the addition of succinate, an ADP titration was performed to determine if metformin altered the reduction of  $mH_2O_2$  in response to [ADP] in red gastrocnemius. The percent (%) change was calculated by subtracting  $mH_2O_2$  at a given [ADP] by the maximal succinate induced  $mH_2O_2$  rate, then dividing by the maximal induced  $mH_2O_2$  rate. No differences were observed between groups in  $mH_2O_2$  sensitivity of red gastrocnemius to [ADP].

#### Akt but not AMPK phosphorylation is altered by acute Metformin treatment

To determine the effects of a single dose of metformin on insulin signaling, phosphorylated (Ser<sup>473</sup>) and total Akt were measured by immunoblotting using equal amounts of protein in red and white gastrocnemius. As expected, glucose treatment resulted in significantly elevated Akt Ser<sup>473</sup> phosphorylation in red and white gastrocnemius compared to controls (181% and 280%, respectively), indicating activation of insulin signaling (Figure 4A). Interestingly, metformin treatment resulted in elevated Akt Ser<sup>473</sup> phosphorylation independent of glucose in both red and white gastrocnemius (323% and 176%, respectively) compared to fasted controls. Although both glucose and metformin increased Ser<sup>473</sup> phosphorylation of Akt alone, treatment with both glucose and metformin did not have an additive effect.

The current dogma with respect to metformin indicates that an increase in AMPK phosphorylation and/or activity is integral to its' anti-diabetic effects (54, 81). However, recent evidence indicates that activation of AMPK may not be required for particular metabolic effects of metformin (61, 72). Therefore, to determine if a single dose of metformin causes increased AMPK phosphorylation, phosphorylated (Thr<sup>172</sup>) and total AMPK were measured by immunoblotting in red and white gastrocnemius. No significant differences were observed between any groups in AMPK phosphorylation in response to glucose or metformin in red or white gastrocnemius (Figure 4B). This data indicates that a single oral dose of metformin does

not cause an increase in AMPK phosphorylation, and furthermore that the anti-diabetic effects of metformin may not rely on AMPK, at least in skeletal muscle.

#### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

#### Summary of findings

The results of the current study demonstrate a dramatic improvement in whole body glucose tolerance three hours after a single oral dose of metformin in Zucker fa/fa rats which is independent of changes in mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emitting potential or AMPK phosphorylation in red and white gastrocnemius. Cellular redox state was differentially altered in response to glucose and/or metformin in white gastrocnemius, but no changes were observed in red gastrocnemius. Interestingly, the same trend seen in white gastrocnemius GSH/GSSG was observed in the mH<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emitting potential, although the latter was not statistically significant. The most significant finding of the current study is that a single dose of metformin dramatically improves whole body glucose tolerance in Zucker fa/fa rats, but does so independent of altered mitochondrial respiration, mitochondrial oxidant production, or AMPK phosphorylation. Further investigation is needed to elucidate the mechanism responsible for the anti-diabetic action of metformin in skeletal muscle.

#### Improved Glucose Tolerance after a single dose of Metformin

Fasting glucose is primarily regulated by hepatic glucose output, and thus the 20% improvement in fasting glucose observed after a single oral dose of metformin in this study fits with previous data which has shown a dramatic reduction in hepatic glucose output in response to chronic metformin treatment in humans (37). The improvement in whole body glucose tolerance observed in this study was not as great as the ~60% decrease in glucose AUC observed after 4 weeks of metformin treatment in Zucker fa/fa rats by Kane et al. (39). However, it appears that a single dose of metformin resulted in a clinically relevant improvement in whole body glucose tolerance in both the fasted (20%) and fed (35%) states. Furthermore, consistent

with previous findings from our lab, metformin treatment did not alter fasting serum insulin or total insulin area under the curve during an OGTT. These data taken together are strong evidence to demonstrate the anti-diabetic action of metformin in skeletal muscle, which may require insulin (37), but can alter glucose tolerance independent of changes in insulin secretion as seen with chronic metformin treatment (39).

Metformin acts independently of alterations in Mitochondrial Respiration to improve Whole Body Glucose Tolerance

Previous research has suggested that the anti-diabetic effects of metformin may be due to inhibition of Complex I supported respiration (20, 55), however, many of these studies used metformin at concentrations many times higher than those which exist *in vivo*. In the current study, a single dose of metformin did not alter maximal state 3 mitochondrial respiration in red or white gastrocnemius using pyruvate/malate or palmitoylcarnitine/malate as substrates. This data suggests that skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration is not altered after a single dose of metformin treatment, and furthermore that it is not required for the anti-diabetic effects of metformin treatment. In further support of these findings, Kane et al. (39) recently demonstrated that the concentration of metformin needed to inhibit electron flow in the forward direction (respiration) was ~100 times greater than the concentration needed to inhibit reverse electron flow (oxidant generation). Taken together, it appears fairly evident that although metformin is capable of inhibiting mitochondrial respiration *in vitro* at high concentrations, it is unlikely that metformin treatment alters skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration *in vivo*.

A single dose of Metformin alters Cellular Redox state in a Skeletal Muscle Fiber Type specific manner

Recent evidence has indicated that a potential mechanism for metformin to elicit antidiabetic effects is through the inhibition of mitochondrial oxidant production, particularly reverse electron flow through Complex I (9, 55). In the current study, we tested whether a single dose of metformin altered mitochondrial  $H_2O_2$  production induced by palmitoylcarnitine/malate or succinate in red and white gastrocnemius. Contradictory to the hypotheses set forth, a single dose of metformin did not appear to significantly alter mitochondrial oxidant production in red gastrocnemius.

Perhaps the most interesting finding of the current study was observed in white gastrocnemius cellular redox state. As expected, water/glucose animals displayed a more oxidized GSH/GSSG ratio in white gastrocnemius compared to water/water, indicating that the cell redox environment became more oxidized in response to glucose. However, when compared to the control fasted animals, metformin/water animals had a more oxidized cellular redox state (decreased GSH/GSSG) in white gastrocnemius. However, when metformin and glucose treatments were given together (metformin/glucose group), the cellular redox environment was significantly more reduced (higher GSH/GSSG) compared to metformin/water animals, indicating a protective effect of metformin. Although these results seem contradictory, there is evidence from previous studies to explain how/why this phenomenon may occur. As mentioned previously, a key component of the metabolic action of metformin is thought to be through an increase in AMPK phosphorylation or activity, although in the current study, phosphorylation of AMPK did not appear to be elevated. One observed result of metformin treatment (presumed to be AMPK dependent) is an increase in fatty acid oxidation and transport, which occurs through

phosphorylation of ACC, resulting in a decrease in malonyl-CoA levels (15). Malonyl CoA is a competitive inhibitor of carnitine palmitoyl transferase 1 (CPT-1), and thus decreased levels of malonyl CoA result in greater fatty acid transport via CPT-1 (60). Therefore, although perhaps not through an AMPK-dependent mechanism, if fatty acid transport and/or oxidation was elevated in the fasted state by metformin treatment, it could result in a more oxidized cellular redox environment due to elevated fatty acid supported mitochondrial oxidant generation (3). The dichotomy between red and white gastrocnemius may be explained by the different energetic properties of these two tissues, with red gastrocnemius possessing far greater mitochondrial density than white gastrocnemius. Therefore, perhaps the same concentration of glucose (or metformin) affects these two tissues differently, which makes the response to metformin treatment difficult to compare between different fiber types.

#### A single dose of Metformin can mimic Insulin signaling in the Fasted state

The canonical insulin signaling cascade in skeletal muscle consists of a series of phosphorylation events beginning at the insulin receptor and culminating with GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane. At the epicenter of a variety of different signaling cascades, including insulin signaling, is the pro-survival kinase Akt. In the current study, Akt phosphorylation was measured as an index of insulin signaling in red and white gastrocnemius. Consistent with previous findings, glucose treatment increased Akt phosphorylation, indicating an activation of insulin signaling. Interestingly, metformin treatment alone significantly increased Akt phosphorylation in both red and white gastrocnemius, yet combined glucose and metformin did not have an additive effect on Akt phosphorylation on either tissue. This data is provocative because previous findings indicate that insulin is necessary for metformin induced elevations of whole body glucose clearance (77). However, based on the current findings, it

appears that perhaps insulin is not required for the anti-diabetic action of metformin *in vivo*, although this is based solely on protein signaling data since no direct measurements of skeletal muscle glucose transport were performed in the current study.

#### Limitations

Two types of limitations can be identified in this study: limitations based on the experimental models used and specific methodological limitations based on particular protocols. The primary limitations regarding experimental model and design are: lack of skeletal muscle specific glucose transport data and the use of a genetically predisposed obese animal as opposed to a naturally occurring type 2 diabetic animal. The effects of a single dose of metformin on glucose tolerance in human or animal has only been assessed in one study to our knowledge (57). Perriello et al. (57) found that treating humans with a single dose of metformin resulted in dramatic reductions in hepatic glucose output with no alterations in peripheral glucose uptake. Ultimately, the current study provides inferential evidence that peripheral glucose transport was altered by a single dose of metformin based on the glucose AUC data, but when considering the previously reported contribution of hepatic glucose output in response to metformin treatment, specific skeletal muscle glucose transport data is needed. The second major design limitation of the current study was the use of the Zucker fa/fa rat instead of a high fat fed rat. The Zucker fa/fa rat is a leptin receptor deficient rat, meaning that leptin is released but cannot bind to receptors and act accordingly on feeding behavior, resulting in a hyperphagic animal that becomes insulin resistant between 10-12 weeks of age. Previous research has demonstrated that metformin treatment improves leptin sensitivity in leptin-resistant high fat fed animals (42), and therefore the use of a leptin receptor deficient animal model lacks some strength in translating the animal data obtained in the current study to future humans studies. The third and final

limitation related to design was the low group sizes as a result of unforeseen circumstances. This resulted in group sizes of 3-4 in our functional mitochondria experiments, and yet another unfortunate event weakened the usefulness of stored frozen tissue, resulting in group sizes of 2-3 for the western blot data presented in this study. Therefore, all data except for the OGTT (glucose and insulin) and GSH/GSSG in this paper should be considered pilot data.

Specific methodological limitations over the course of a study are commonplace as the development of new information and techniques become available. The methodological limitations of the current study are primarily regarding the measurement of mitochondrial oxidant generation. Specifically, based on the experimental conditions used, it is possible that the relative contribution of sites other than Complex I to altered mitochondrial oxidant production in response to metformin treatment may have been underestimated. Previous research has indicated that Complex I was the primary target of metformin treatment (9). However, recent evidence from Seifert et al. (66) indicates that superoxide can be produced from the electron transferring flavoprotein as well as Complex III during fatty acid oxidation, and is therefore relevant to this study. Furthermore, inclusion of exogenous CuZnSOD effectively doubles fatty acid induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> emission in isolated mitochondria (66). This issue is paramount because our laboratory has used exogenous copper-zinc superoxide dismutase (CuZnSOD) in previous studies, the primary cytosolic superoxide scavenger in vivo, during the measurement of H2O2 emission, but exogenous CuZnSOD was not used in the current study because the contribution of Complex III to H2O2 emission was thought to be minimal (4). This means that the relative contribution of alternate site oxidant generation may have been underestimated in the current study, and is a potential explanation for many of the discrepancies found between previous studies in our laboratory and the current study. Therefore, although the results of the

current study did not fit some of the proposed hypotheses, methodological insight has been gained from this project and further investigation needs to be done to determine the topology of oxidant generation in response to glucose and/or metformin treatment.

#### Future Directions

There are abundant opportunities in the future to study metformin, particularly because it is the most widely prescribed drug to type 2 diabetics while the mechanism of action is still largely unknown. The current study has revealed novel descriptive responses to a single oral dose of metformin in the Zucker fa/fa rat, particularly with respect to whole body glucose tolerance and alterations in cellular redox state by metformin treatment. Potential future projects based on the insight gained from the current study should include direct measurements of hepatic glucose output and skeletal muscle glucose transport using radiolabeled tracers, and use either humans or high fat fed animal models instead of genetically obese animal models. Investigating the role of AMPK as a biological target of metformin treatment in insulin sensitive tissues remains viable to study, as well as further exploring the insulin independent activation of insulin signaling proteins such as Akt, and how metformin treatment could affect protein synthesis through differential regulation of AMPK and Akt.

#### Conclusions

The current study tested the hypothesis that a single oral dose of metformin in genetically hyperphagic Zucker fa/fa rats would improve whole body glucose tolerance and be associated with decreased mitochondrial oxidant generation and improved cellular redox state. Based on the results of the study, it can be concluded that a single dose of metformin results in improvements in whole body glucose tolerance that may be independent of changes in cellular

redox state or mitochondrial oxidant generation in red gastrocnemius, but related to altered cellular redox state in white gastrocnemius. Metformin treatment in the fasted state may be detrimental to cellular redox state in white gastrocnemius, but should be tested further to determine if this is physiologically relevant. Although threonine phosphorylation of AMPK was not increased in red or white gastrocnemius, serine phosphorylation of Akt was increased, indicating that metformin can mimic insulin to a certain extent in vivo and does not appear to rely on AMPK. Cumulatively, the insight provided by the current study is descriptive and provides a solid foundation on which to pursue future studies regarding the acute metabolic alterations that occur in response to metformin treatment *in vivo*.

### Figure 1: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE ORAL DOSE OF METFORMIN ON FASTING GLUCOSE AND INSULIN IN ZUCKER fa/fa RATS

HOMA was calculated (A) (n=11/group) from fasting blood glucose (B) (n=12/group) and serum insulin (C) (n=11/group) which were measured after an overnight fast in Zucker fa/fa rats after either an oral dose of metformin (320 mg/kg body wt.) or an equivalent volume of water. The results demonstrate the potential for metformin treatment (black bars) to improve HOMA (A - \*  $P \le 0.05$ ) and decrease fasting glucose (B - \*\*\*  $P \le 0.0001$ ) compared to controls (white bars). Data is represented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM.



### Figure 2: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE DOSE OF METFORMIN ON WHOLE BODY GLUCOSE TOLERANCE IN OBESE ZUCKER fa/fa RATS

Time course of blood glucose (A) during an OGTT (n=12/group). Results indicate that a single dose of metformin decreases blood glucose at every time point beyond basal when assessed with 2-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc test (\*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001). Glucose (B) (n=12/group) and insulin (C) (n=11/group) total area under the curve (AUC) from an oral glucose tolerance test (2g/kg bodyweight) 3 hours after a single oral dose of metformin (320mg/kg bodyweight). Results demonstrate that metformin treatment (black bars) improves whole body insulin sensitivity compared to controls (white bars) evidenced by decreased glucose AUC (\*\*\* P < 0.0001), but no significant difference in insulin AUC. Data is represented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM.



## FIGURE 3: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE DOSE OF METFORMIN ON CELLULAR REDOX STATE AND MITOCHONDRIAL OXIDANT PRODUCTION IN RED AND WHITE GASTROCNEMIUS OF ZUCKER fa/fa RATS

Cellular redox state (A) (n=6/group) and mitochondrial oxidant production (B) (n=3-4/group) were measured under four conditions (see *Methods*). The first gavage was performed 3 hours prior to sacrifice and consisted of either metformin (320 mg/kg body wt.) or an equivalent volume of water, the second gavage was performed 1 hour before sacrifice and consisted of either glucose (2 g/kg body wt.) or an equivalent volume of water. Therefore, four groups were studied (gavage 1/gavage 2): water/water (white bars), water/glucose (horizontal line bars), metformin/water (black bars), and metformin/glucose (vertical line bars). The results indicate that red gastrocnemius cellular redox state is not altered by glucose or metformin treatment. However, in white gastrocnemius, metformin treatment alone resulted in a more oxidized cellular redox environment (\* P < 0.05 vs. water/water, † P < 0.05 vs. metformin/water), but when combined with glucose, metformin does not appear to alter cellular redox state. Succinate supported mH2O2 was not significantly altered by metformin or glucose treatment in red or white gastrocnemius. Together, this data indicates that there may be a fiber type specific amplitude of alterations in cellular redox state in response to metformin treatment. Data are represented as the mean + SEM. (B is considered pilot data)





Β.



### FIGURE 4: EFFECTS OF A SINGLE ORAL DOSE OF METFORMIN ON PROTEIN SIGNALING IN RED AND WHITE GASTROCNEMIUS OF ZUCKER fa/fa RATS

To assess if a single dose of metformin altered protein signaling of Akt (A) and AMPK (B), phosphorylated and total content of these proteins was measured by immunoblotting (see *Methods*) and reported as phosphorylated/total (A and B – n=3/group). Four groups were studied (gavage 1/gavage 2): water/water (white bars), water/glucose (horizontal line bars), metformin/water (black bars), and metformin/glucose (vertical line bars). The results indicate that glucose or metformin treatment alone are both capable of increasing Akt Ser<sup>473</sup> phosphorylation in both red (\* P ≤ 0.05 vs. water/water, \*\* P ≤ 0.01 vs. water/water) and white gastrocnemius (\* P ≤ 0.05 vs. water/water, \*\*\* P ≤ 0.001 vs. water/water, *f* P ≤ 0.05 vs. water/glucose), but that glucose and metformin treatment together does not result in additive Akt phosphorylation in either tissue. Conversely, glucose or metformin treatment alone did not result in an increase in AMPK phosphorylation, nor did combining the treatments. This suggests that metformin can mimic insulin stimulation at the level of Akt, and that perhaps the metabolic action of metformin may occur independently of AMPK. (A and B are considered pilot data)

# A. **pAMPK / tAMPK**



B. pAkt / tAkt



### WORKS CITED

1. Allingham JS, Smith R, and Rayment I. The structural basis of blebbistatin inhibition and specificity for myosin II. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 12: 378-379, 2005.

Amati F, Dubé JJ, Coen PM, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, and Goodpaster BH.
 Physical Inactivity and Obesity Underlie the Insulin Resistance of Aging. *Diabetes Care* 32: 1547-1549, 2009.

3. Anderson EJ, Lustig ME, Boyle KE, Woodlief TL, Kane DA, Lin C-T, Price JW, Kang L, Rabinovitch PS, Szeto HH, Houmard JA, Cortright RN, Wasserman DH, and Neufer PD. Mitochondrial H2O2 emission and cellular redox state link excess fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 119: 573-581, 2009.

 Anderson EJ, Yamazaki H, and Neufer PD. Induction of Endogenous Uncoupling Protein 3 Suppresses Mitochondrial Oxidant Emission during Fatty Acid-supported Respiration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282: 31257-31266, 2007.

 Avignon A, Yamada K, Zhou X, Spencer B, Cardona O, Saba-Siddique S, Galloway
 L, Standaert ML, and Farese RV. Chronic activation of protein kinase C in soleus muscles and other tissues of insulin-resistant type II diabetic Goto-Kakizaki (GK), obese/aged, and obese/Zucker rats. A mechanism for inhibiting glycogen synthesis. *Diabetes* 45: 1396-1404, 1996.

6. **Bailey CJ and Day C.** Traditional plant medicines as treatments for diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 12: 553-564, 1989.

Bailey CJ and Turner RC. Metformin. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 334:
 574-579, 1996.

44

8. **Barrett WC, DeGnore JP, Keng Y-F, Zhang Z-Y, Yim MB, and Chock PB.** Roles of Superoxide Radical Anion in Signal Transduction Mediated by Reversible Regulation of Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase 1B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274: 34543-34546, 1999.

9. Batandier C, Guigas B, Detaille D, El-Mir M, Fontaine E, Rigoulet M, and Leverve
X. The ROS Production Induced by a Reverse-Electron Flux at Respiratory-Chain Complex 1 is
Hampered by Metformin. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 38: 33-42, 2006.

Boden G. Role of fatty acids in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and NIDDM.
 *Diabetes* 46: 3-10, 1997.

11. **Boushel R, Gnaiger E, Schjerling P, Skovbro M, Kraunsøe R, and Dela F.** Patients with type 2 diabetes have normal mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle. *Diabetologia* 50: 790-796, 2007.

12. Bruce CR, Hoy AJ, Turner N, Watt MJ, Allen TL, Carpenter K, Cooney GJ, Febbraio MA, and Kraegen EW. Overexpression of Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase-1 in Skeletal Muscle Is Sufficient to Enhance Fatty Acid Oxidation and Improve High-Fat Diet Induced Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* 58: 550-558, 2009.

13. **Chance B, Sies H, and Boveris A.** Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiological Reviews* 59: 527-605, 1979.

Chavez JA, Knotts TA, Wang L-P, Li G, Dobrowsky RT, Florant GL, and Summers
 SA. A Role for Ceramide, but Not Diacylglycerol, in the Antagonism of Insulin Signal
 Transduction by Saturated Fatty Acids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278: 10297-10303,
 2003.

15. **Collier CA, Bruce CR, Smith AC, Lopaschuk G, and Dyck DJ.** Metformin counters the insulin-induced suppression of fatty acid oxidation and stimulation of triacylglycerol storage

in rodent skeletal muscle. AJP - Endocrinology and Metabolism 291: E182-189, 2006.

16. **Copin J-C, Gasche Y, and Chan PH.** Overexpression of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase does not prevent neonatal lethality in mutant mice that lack manganese superoxide dismutase. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 28: 1571-1576, 2000.

17. Dalle-Donne I, Milzani A, Gagliano N, Colombo R, Giustarini D, and Rossi R.
Molecular Mechanisms and Potential Clinical Significance of S-Glutathionylation. *Antioxidants*& *Redox Signaling* 10: 445-474, 2007.

18. **den Hertog J, Groen A, and van der Wijk T.** Redox regulation of protein-tyrosine phosphatases. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 434: 11-15, 2005.

Dobbins RL, Szczepaniak LS, Bentley B, Esser V, Myhill J, and McGarry JD.
 Prolonged Inhibition of Muscle Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase-1 Promotes Intramyocellular
 Lipid Accumulation and Insulin Resistance in Rats. *Diabetes* 50: 123-130, 2001.

20. El-Mir M-Y, Nogueira Vr, Fontaine E, Avéret N, Rigoulet M, and Leverve X.

Dimethylbiguanide Inhibits Cell Respiration via an Indirect Effect Targeted on the Respiratory Chain Complex I. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275: 223-228, 2000.

21. Fox TE, Houck KL, O'Neill SM, Nagarajan M, Stover TC, Pomianowski PT, Unal

**O**, **Yun JK**, **Naides SJ**, and **Kester M**. Ceramide Recruits and Activates Protein Kinase C  $\zeta$  (PKC  $\zeta$ ) within Structured Membrane Microdomains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282: 12450-12457, 2007.

22. Galgani JE, Moro C, and Ravussin E. Metabolic flexibility and insulin resistance. *AJP - Endocrinology and Metabolism* 295: E1009-1017, 2008.

23. Garcia-Roves P, Huss JM, Han D-H, Hancock CR, Iglesias-Gutierrez E, Chen M, and Holloszy JO. Raising plasma fatty acid concentration induces increased biogenesis of mitochondria in skeletal muscle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104: 10709-10713, 2007.

24. Geromel V, Parfait B, Kleist-Retzow Jr-Cv, Chretien D, Munnich A, Rötig A, and Rustin P. The Consequences of a Mild Respiratory Chain Deficiency on Substrate Competitive Oxidation in Human Mitochondria. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 236: 643-646, 1997.

25. **Ghezzi P.** Review Regulation of protein function by glutathionylation. *Free Radical Research* 39: 573-580, 2005.

26. **Goldstein BJ, Bittner-Kowalczyk A, White MF, and Harbeck M.** Tyrosine Dephosphorylation and Deactivation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 by Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase 1B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275: 4283-4289, 2000.

27. Griffin ME, Marcucci MJ, Cline GW, Bell K, Barucci N, Lee D, Goodyear LJ, Kraegen EW, White MF, and Shulman GI. Free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance is associated with activation of protein kinase C theta and alterations in the insulin signaling cascade. *Diabetes* 48: 1270-1274, 1999.

28. Hancock CR, Han D-H, Chen M, Terada S, Yasuda T, Wright DC, and Holloszy
JO. High-fat diets cause insulin resistance despite an increase in muscle mitochondria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105: 7815-7820, 2008.

29. Hardie DG and Sakamoto K. AMPK: A Key Sensor of Fuel and Energy Status in Skeletal Muscle. *Physiology* 21: 48-60, 2006.

30. **Hilder TL, Tou JCL, Grindeland RE, Wade CE, and Graves LM.** Phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 serine 307 correlates with JNK activity in atrophic skeletal muscle. *FEBS Letters* 553: 63-67, 2003.

31. **Holloszy JO.** Skeletal muscle "mitochondrial deficiency" does not mediate insulin resistance. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 89: 463S-466, 2009.

32. **Houmard JA.** Intramuscular lipid oxidation and obesity. *AJP - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 294: R1111-1116, 2008.

33. **Hresko RC and Mueckler M.** mTOR-RICTOR Is the Ser473 Kinase for Akt/Protein Kinase B in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280: 40406-40416, 2005.

34. **Hu J, Dong L, and Outten CE.** The Redox Environment in the Mitochondrial Intermembrane Space Is Maintained Separately from the Cytosol and Matrix. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283: 29126-29134, 2008.

35. **Hulver MW and Lynis Dohm G.** The molecular mechanism linking muscle fat accumulation to insulin resistance. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 63: 375-380, 2004.

36. **Inoki K, Zhu T, and Guan K-L.** TSC2 Mediates Cellular Energy Response to Control Cell Growth and Survival. 115: 577-590, 2003.

37. **Iozzo P, Hallsten K, Oikonen V, Virtanen KA, Parkkola R, Kemppainen J, Solin O, Lonnqvist F, Ferrannini E, Knuuti J, and Nuutila P.** Effects of Metformin and Rosiglitazone Monotherapy on Insulin-Mediated Hepatic Glucose Uptake and Their Relation to Visceral Fat in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 26: 2069-2074, 2003.

 Jones DP. Radical-free biology of oxidative stress. *AJP - Cell Physiology* 295: C849-868, 2008.

39. Kane DA, Ethan J. Anderson, Jesse W. Price III, Tracey L. Woodlief, Benjamin T. Bikman, Ronald N. Cortright, P. Darrell Neufer. Metformin Attenuates a Complex Imediated Increase in Skeletal Muscle Micohondrial H2O2 emission associated with Obesity in the Zucker fa/fa rat. *In Press*, 2010.

48

40. **Kelley DE, Goodpaster B, Wing RR, and Simoneau J-A.** Skeletal muscle fatty acid metabolism in association with insulin resistance, obesity, and weight loss. *AJP - Endocrinology and Metabolism* 277: E1130-1141, 1999.

41. Kelley DE, Williams KV, Price JC, McKolanis TM, Goodpaster BH, and Thaete FL. Plasma Fatty Acids, Adiposity, and Variance of Skeletal Muscle Insulin Resistance in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86: 5412-5419, 2001.

42. Kim Y-W, Kim J-Y, Park Y-H, Park S-Y, Won K-C, Choi K-H, Huh J-Y, and Moon K-H. Metformin Restores Leptin Sensitivity in High-Fat,ÄìFed Obese Rats With Leptin Resistance. *Diabetes* 55: 716-724, 2006.

43. **Korshunov SS and James AI.** A potential role for periplasmic superoxide dismutase in blocking the penetration of external superoxide into the cytosol of Gram-negative bacteria. *Molecular Microbiology* 43: 95-106, 2002.

44. **Kraegen EW and Cooney GJ.** Free fatty acids and skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Current Opinion in Lipidology* 19: 235-241, 2008.

45. Larson DE, Ferraro RT, Robertson DS, and Ravussin E. Energy metabolism in weight-stable postobese individuals. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 62: 735-739, 1995.

46. Lee YH, Giraud J, Davis RJ, and White MF. c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) Mediates Feedback Inhibition of the Insulin Signaling Cascade. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278: 2896-2902, 2003.

47. Lowell BB and Shulman GI. Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Type 2 Diabetes. *Science* 307: 384-387, 2005.

48. **Maher P.** The effects of stress and aging on glutathione metabolism. *Ageing Research Reviews* 4: 288-314, 2005.

49. McGarry JD. Banting Lecture 2001. *Diabetes* 51: 7-18, 2002.

50. **Mills GC.** Glutathione peroxidase and the destruction of hydrogen peroxide in animal tissues. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 86: 1-5, 1960.

51. Mogensen M, Sahlin K, Fernstrom M, Glintborg D, Vind BF, Beck-Nielsen H, and Hojlund K. Mitochondrial Respiration Is Decreased in Skeletal Muscle of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 56: 1592-1599, 2007.

52. Moro C, Bajpeyi S, and Smith SR. Determinants of intramyocellular triglyceride turnover: implications for insulin sensitivity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 294: E203-213, 2008.

53. Muller FL, Liu Y, and Van Remmen H. Complex III Releases Superoxide to Both
Sides of the Inner Mitochondrial Membrane. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279: 49064-49073,
2004.

54. Musi N, Hirshman MF, Nygren J, Svanfeldt M, Bavenholm P, Rooyackers O, Zhou
G, Williamson JM, Ljunqvist O, Efendic S, Moller DE, Thorell A, and Goodyear LJ.
Metformin Increases AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Activity in Skeletal Muscle of Subjects
With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 51: 2074-2081, 2002.

55. **Owen MR, Doran E, and Halestrap AP.** Evidence that metformin exerts its antidiabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Biochem J* 348: 607-614, 2000.

56. Perdomo G, Commerford SR, Richard A-MT, Adams SH, Corkey BE, O'Doherty

**RM, and Brown NF.** Increased β-Oxidation in Muscle Cells Enhances Insulin-stimulated Glucose Metabolism and Protects against Fatty Acid-induced Insulin Resistance Despite Intramyocellular Lipid Accumulation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279: 27177-27186, 2004. 57. Perriello G, Misericordia P, Volpi E, Santucci A, Santucci C, Ferrannini E, Ventura MM, Santeusanio F, Brunetti P, and Bolli GB. Acute antihyperglycemic mechanisms of metformin in NIDDM. Evidence for suppression of lipid oxidation and hepatic glucose production. *Diabetes* 43: 920-928, 1994.

58. **Rhee SG, Bae YS, Lee S-R, and Kwon J.** Hydrogen Peroxide: A Key Messenger That Modulates Protein Phosphorylation Through Cysteine Oxidation. *Science Signaling* 2000: pe1, 2000.

#### 59. Ritov VB, Menshikova EV, He J, Ferrell RE, Goodpaster BH, and Kelley DE.

Deficiency of Subsarcolemmal Mitochondria in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 54: 8-14, 2005.

60. Ruderman NB, Cacicedo JM, Itani S, Yagihashi N, Saha AK, Ye JM, Chen K, Zou

**M**, **Carling D**, **Boden G**, **Cohen RA**, **Keaney J**, **Kraegen EW**, **and Ido Y**. Malonyl-CoA and AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK): possible links between insulin resistance in muscle and early endothelial cell damage in diabetes. *Biochem Soc Trans* 31: 202-206, 2003.

61. Saeedi R, Parsons HL, Wambolt RB, Paulson K, Sharma V, Dyck JRB, Brownsey

**RW, and Allard MF.** Metabolic actions of metformin in the heart can occur by AMPKindependent mechanisms. *AJP - Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 294: H2497-2506, 2008.

62. Sambol NC, Chiang J, O'Conner M, Liu CY, Lin ET, Goodman AM, Benet LZ, and Karam JH. Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Metformin in Healthy Subjects and Patients with Noninsulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 36: 1012-1021, 1996.

63. Sano H, Kane S, Sano E, Mîinea CP, Asara JM, Lane WS, Garner CW, and Lienhard GE. Insulin-stimulated Phosphorylation of a Rab GTPase-activating Protein Regulates GLUT4 Translocation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278: 14599-14602, 2003.

64. **Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, and Sabatini DM.** Phosphorylation and Regulation of Akt/PKB by the Rictor-mTOR Complex. *Science* 307: 1098-1101, 2005.

65. **Schafer FQ and Buettner GR.** Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 30: 1191-1212, 2001.

66. Seifert EL, Estey C, Xuan JY, and Harper M-E. Electron Transport Chain-dependent and -independent Mechanisms of Mitochondrial H2O2 Emission during Long-chain Fatty Acid Oxidation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285: 5748-5758, 2010.

67. **St-Pierre J, Buckingham JA, Roebuck SJ, and Brand MD.** Topology of Superoxide Production from Different Sites in the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 44784-44790, 2002.

68. Standaert ML, Ortmeyer HK, Sajan MP, Kanoh Y, Bandyopadhyay G, Hansen BC, and Farese RV. Skeletal Muscle Insulin Resistance in Obesity-Associated Type 2 Diabetes in Monkeys Is Linked to a Defect in Insulin Activation of Protein Kinase C- $\zeta/\lambda/\tau$ . *Diabetes* 51: 2936-2943, 2002.

69. **Staniek K and Nohl H.** H2O2 detection from intact mitochondria as a measure for oneelectron reduction of dioxygen requires a non-invasive assay system. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics* 1413: 70-80, 1999.

70. Stephens L, Anderson K, Stokoe D, Erdjument-Bromage H, Painter GF, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB, McCormick F, Tempst P, Coadwell J, and Hawkins PT. Protein Kinase B Kinases That Mediate Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-Trisphosphate-Dependent Activation of Protein Kinase B. *Science* 279: 710-714, 1998.

71. Stokoe D, Stephens LR, Copeland T, Gaffney PRJ, Reese CB, Painter GF, Holmes

**AB**, **McCormick F**, and **Hawkins PT**. Dual Role of Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate in the Activation of Protein Kinase B. *Science* 277: 567-570, 1997.

72. **Suwa M, Egashira T, Nakano H, Sasaki H, and Kumagai S.** Metformin increases the PGC-1 {alpha} protein and oxidative enzyme activities possibly via AMPK phosphorylation in skeletal muscle in vivo. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 101: 1685-1692, 2006.

73. Tengholm A and Meyer T. A PI3-Kinase Signaling Code for Insulin-Triggered
Insertion of Glucose Transporters into the Plasma Membrane. *Current Biology* 12: 1871-1876, 2002.

74. **Timmers S, Schrauwen P, and de Vogel J.** Muscular diacylglycerol metabolism and insulin resistance. *Physiology & Behavior* 94: 242-251, 2008.

75. Turner N, Bruce CR, Beale SM, Hoehn KL, So T, Rolph MS, and Cooney GJ.
Excess Lipid Availability Increases Mitochondrial Fatty Acid Oxidative Capacity in Muscle. *Diabetes* 56: 2085-2092, 2007.

76. Whitehead JP, Molero JC, Clark S, Martin S, Meneilly G, and James DE. The Role of Ca2+ in Insulin-stimulated Glucose Transport in 3T3-L1 Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276: 27816-27824, 2001.

77. Wiernsperger NF and Bailey CJ. The Antihyperglycaemic Effect of Metformin: Therapeutic and Cellular Mechanisms. *Drugs* 58: 31-39, 1999.

78. **Williams KV, Bertoldo A, Kinahan P, Cobelli C, and Kelley DE.** Weight Loss-Induced Plasticity of Glucose Transport and Phosphorylation in the Insulin Resistance of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 52: 1619-1626, 2003.

79. Yu C, Chen Y, Cline GW, Zhang D, Zong H, Wang Y, Bergeron R, Kim JK,

#### Cushman SW, Cooney GJ, Atcheson B, White MF, Kraegen EW, and Shulman GI.

Mechanism by Which Fatty Acids Inhibit Insulin Activation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity in Muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 50230-50236, 2002.

#### 80. Zabolotny JM, Haj FG, Kim Y-B, Kim H-J, Shulman GI, Kim JK, Neel BG, and

**Kahn** BB. Transgenic Overexpression of Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase 1B in Muscle Causes Insulin Resistance, but Overexpression with Leukocyte Antigen-related Phosphatase Does Not Additively Impair Insulin Action. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279: 24844-24851, 2004.

81. Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, Fenyk-Melody J, Wu M, Ventre J, Doebber T,
Fujii N, Musi N, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ, and Moller DE. Role of AMP-activated protein
kinase in mechanism of metformin action. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 108: 1167-1174,
2001.

#### APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE ANIMAL USE

#### PROTOCOL APPROVAL FORM

